National Mental Health Commission submission to the Productivity Commission 2019 Draft Report on Mental Health

Contents

Introduction	3
Submission outline	3
Section 1: Vision 2030 and additional issues for consideration	4
Vision 2030: Blueprint for mental health and suicide prevention	4
Additional issues for consideration in the Final Report	5
Broader consideration of the role of recovery	5
Expansion of the definition of community and community services and the need community based care policy and funding framework	
Health-centric approach to addressing social determinants	7
Greater consideration of lifespan and diversity	7
System capacity and capability	8
Natural disasters and mental health	9
Section 2: System Reform Areas	10
PART I - The case for major reform	10
Cross-portfolio and whole-of-government	10
Change management	10
Out-of-Pocket costs	11
PART II - Reorientating health care services to consumers	11
MBS-rebated mental health services	11
National Mental Health Workforce Strategy	12
Mental health peer workforce	12
Promoting the value of peer work	13
Draft short-term recommendations for mental health peer workforce	13
Draft medium-term recommendations for mental health peer workforce	13
PART III - Reorienting surrounding services to people	13
Care integration and coordination	14
Carers and Families	15
Housing and homelessness	15
Justice system	15
Psychosocial support and the National Disability Insurance Scheme	16

PART IV - Early Intervention and Prevention	17
Early Childhood	18
National Children's Mental Health and Wellbeing Strategy	18
Perinatal mental illness	18
Pre-school aged children	18
Schools	19
Social Inclusion	19
Suicide prevention	20
Mentally Healthy Workplaces	21
PART V - Pulling together the reforms	21
Governance, responsibilities and consumer participation	21
Funding	22
Monitoring, evaluation, and reporting	23
Section 3: Draft Recommendations for the National Mental Health Commission	23
Draft Recommendations for change of role for NMHC – national evaluation role and multijurisdictional body	24
Draft Recommendations - 22.5 - Building a stronger evaluation culture and 25.7 - Princi for conducting program evaluations	•
System evaluation	25
Independence	25
Sequence of recommendations	25
Draft Recommendation - 25.4 – Strengthened monitoring and reporting	26
Social determinants and Contributing Life Framework	26
Outcome framework for evaluation	26
Data	27
Draft Recommendations for the NMHC to monitor, evaluate and report on specific actions	s27
Draft Recommendation - 11.4 Strengthen the peer workforce	27
Draft Recommendation - 13.3 Family-focused and carer-inclusive practice	28
Draft Recommendation - 17.1 Perinatal mental health	28
Draft Recommendation - 20.1 National stigma reduction strategy	28
Draft Recommendation - 21.3 Approach to suicide prevention	29
Draft Recommendation - 22.2 A new whole-of-government mental health strategy	29
Draft Recommendation - 22.3 Enhancing consumer and carer participation	29
Conclusion	30
List of recommendations	31
References	35

Introduction

The National Mental Health Commission (NMHC) welcomes the release of the Productivity Commission's 2019 Draft Report into Mental Health (Draft Report) and the opportunity to provide further comment. Broadly, the NMHC supports the recommendations in the Draft Report. This submission seeks to provide the Productivity Commission with additional information and perspectives to enhance and strengthen the recommendations in the final report.

The Draft Report aligns well to recommendations in the NMHC's first submission to the Productivity Commission inquiry and the NMHC *Monitoring mental health and suicide prevention reform:*National Report 2019 (National Report 2019).^{1,2} In particular, the approach taken by the Productivity Commission reflects recommendations by the NMHC for a cross-portfolio and whole-of-government approach to mental health, to prioritise investment in early intervention and recovery, and to clarify funding arrangements for mental health services.

Since it was established, the NMHC has had a strategic priority to put mental health and wellbeing on the economic agenda to better support every Australian to live a contributing life. Viewing mental health through a productivity lens highlights the benefits of preventing mental illness and promoting mental health and wellbeing as desirable outcomes. This outlook recognises the productivity gains from increasing participation, promoting recovery-oriented approaches, and investing in properly evaluated mental health services to achieve wellbeing for all Australians. The Draft Report is a positive step towards demonstrating the value of good mental health to people, families, their community, and the Australian population and highlights the importance of pursuing these outcomes through improved public policy and necessary systemic changes. The NMHC looks forward to working with the Productivity Commission to achieve this outcome.

The basis of the Draft Report and the focus of the NMHC is, and has been, that supporting the mental health, wellbeing, and resilience of Australian communities is crucial. The current bushfire crisis highlights the consequences when mental wellbeing is compromised. In the current situation this is due to the impact of significant natural disaster, however it can (and does) also result from challenges within the current policy and system regimes. These impacts include the significant economic cost across portfolios (including housing, employment, and health).

Submission outline

This submission responds to the Draft Report and offers further information as requested by the Productivity Commission. Section 1 identifies additional issues for consideration and introduces *Vision 2030: Blueprint for mental health and suicide prevention* (Vision 2030). The work the NMHC is undertaking on Vision 2030 and the accompanying roadmap to frame a reformed mental health and suicide prevention system is highly relevant to the Draft Report and its recommendations. Section 2 responds to the key reform areas covered in the Draft Report and relevant draft recommendations. Section 3 responds to specific recommendations for the NMHC, including expanding the role of the NMHC to include the national monitoring, evaluation, and reporting of mental health and suicide prevention programs and activities, and becoming a statutory authority to best enable it to expand into that additional role.

Section 1: Vision 2030 and additional issues for consideration

Vision 2030: Blueprint for mental health and suicide prevention

The Productivity Commission inquiry into mental health has been described as a 'once in a generation' opportunity for mental health reform.³ The Australian population, those working in the mental health sector, and consumers and carers in particular, hold expectations of major transformational change to address the known deficits in the current system.

The NMHC encourages the Productivity Commission to articulate in the final report how the recommendations translate into improved outcomes. A clear description of the end goal of the recommended reforms allows for articulation of the economic, health and social benefits for individuals, families, and the Australian population, to be appreciated and to become the measure of effectiveness for future reform actions.

In recognition of the need for an overarching vision for the mental health and wellbeing of all Australians, the Government requested the NMHC to undertake Vision 2030, which was delivered to the Minister of Health in December 2019. Work has now commenced on the roadmap components. Vision 2030 provides a strategic and outcome-orientated lens through which to view the Productivity Commission's recommendations in the Final Report.

In developing Vision 2030, the NMHC focused on hearing and incorporating the aspirations, expectations and needs of people and their communities. During 2019, the NMHC's Connections project⁴ conducted public meetings and stakeholder consultations to identify key themes and consensus about the barriers experienced, community needs and opportunities to improve the mental health and suicide prevention system. These themes were used by the NMHC to inform the development of *Vision 2030: Blueprint for Mental Health and Suicide Prevention*.

Vision 2030 requires two fundamental systemic changes:

- Shifting from a mental health 'alone' approach to a wellbeing approach.
- Formulation of a balanced community based approach across the mental health and suicide prevention system.

The shift from a mental health 'alone' approach to a wellbeing approach, necessitates establishing connections with the physical health care system and social determinants including housing, education, employment. This shift to social and emotional wellbeing recognises the interconnect between mental health and whole of life experience. It also reflects that it is not possible to separate, in a treatment and care and support sense, our physical health and mental health. They are two integral components of a single person. This is highlighted by the significantly lower physical health outcomes for people with mental illness. Nor can we separate the physical and mental health from the person's welfare wellbeing or social health which relate to the person's connections, housing, employment and other needs.

The formulation of a balanced community-based approach across the mental health and suicide prevention system creates a cohesive, community-based care sector, which acknowledges the contexts and needs of Australia's diverse communities and the individuals within them. Balanced community-based care is not about one type of care or service, but about the way that we deliver all aspects of prevention, assessment, treatment and recovery. There is growing international consensus that mental health services should be placed in the centre of their communities, closely linked or co-located where possible with primary health care and functionally integrated with hospital-based services. To date there has been a lack of any consistent policy framework, standards

or outcomes for the community care system and this void has been filled with disconnected programs and services funded by either the Australian Government or the state and territory governments. The Vision 2030 approach creates a cohesive system into which programs and services can be incorporated to meet needs identified by the particular community.

The NMHC has commenced work on the roadmap for Vision 2030, which will examine in detail what is required from a policy, system design, service design and outcomes, funding mechanisms, and workforce perspective. This roadmap work is grouped into the five categories of governance structures, performance enablers, system components of care, delivery mechanisms, and outcomes.

For Vision 2030 to be delivered to the Australian population, a unified system that takes a whole-of-community, whole-of-life and person-centred approach to mental health and wellbeing is required. This means an easily navigated, coordinated and balanced community-based system that allows for early intervention to meet each individual's needs, prevent escalating concerns, and enhance wellbeing.

The NMHC would welcome the opportunity to work closely with the Productivity Commission as the NMHC continues to develop the roadmap to identify touchpoints and intersections with the recommendations to be included in the Final Report.

Recommendation 1. The Productivity Commission consider *Vision 2030: Blueprint for Mental Health and Suicide Prevention* and how it may be relevant to the Final Report.

Additional issues for consideration in the Final Report

Broader consideration of the role of recovery

The Draft Report should more fully address the importance of promoting recovery, and the role of individuals, families, and communities in mental health system reform and improving program delivery and practice. It is important that the mental health system recognise that people using the system also require access to rehabilitation and recovery-based services outside of hospital and treatment services. Recovery in the context of mental health means different things to different people. Core concepts in recovery include self-directed, individualised and person-centred, strengths-based, and non-linear care. Individuals can express these concepts differently therefore recovery needs to be seen as a journey rather than an outcome⁵. The 'recovery model' is an approach that emphasises resilience and control over life's challenges⁶. It aims to help people with mental health issues move forward, set new goals, help individual's gain and/or regain purpose in life, and take part in relationships and activities that are meaningful.

People have dynamic (acute, episodic, chronic) experiences of mental illness, rather than the linear approach to mental illness which appears to have been adopted for the Draft Report—to prevent people becoming mentally ill and provide better treatment if they do become mentally ill. Recovery-based approaches recognise that not everyone will follow this path and incorporates self-management of mental health within individuals, families as carers, and communities as social support, that will more effectively address the needs of people experiencing mental illness on a continuing basis.

The NMHC supports the Draft Report's focus on improving prevention and early intervention to achieve better outcomes. Receiving earlier treatment is a key component in reducing severity and impact of illness. However, this is a clinically-centred approach that uses the individual's pathology as the primary measure of recovery. This approach does not account for the healing that can occur from the multiple social and relational interventions in a person's life outside of a clinical setting.

From a recovery perspective, the Contributing Life Framework is a useful foundation for outcome measurement. However, it is important to note that a person's recovery journey to living a contributing life is often not limited to prevention, intervention, or treatment activities provided through a clinical model.

Recovery orientated practice supports mental health service providers to consider social determinants and social interventions within a treatment plan. However, in order to sustainably embed recovery orientated practice into the mental health system, it is important that service mapping frameworks and service planning frameworks include recovery orientated services.

Recommendation 2. The Productivity Commission's Final Report include additional content incorporating the full range of principles comprising recovery to better address the ongoing needs of those experiencing poor mental health.

Recommendation 3. The Productivity Commission's Final Report make a recommendation to prioritise research on recovery to consolidate the evidence-base for recovery orientated practice, based on, and with, critical contribution from those with a lived experience.

Recommendation 4. The Productivity Commission's Final Report should include a more detailed and stronger focus on building long-term system improvements that are based on wellness, recovery and self-management of mental health for individuals, families and communities.

Recommendation 5. The Productivity Commission's Final Report make a recommendation to expand the scope of mental health service mapping frameworks and service planning frameworks to include recovery orientated services.

Expansion of the definition of community and community services and the need to include a community based care policy and funding framework

The Productivity Commission calls for major system reform in the Draft Report, with the focus of reform predominately on the governance and funding elements of the existing health system. It is important to also consider how non-health systems provide or supplement mental health services.

In relation to community services, which form part of the mental health services, the Draft Report offers some discussion around what community services are required, and how they should operate to link and complement the existing health structures, but this examination and discussion needs to be extended.

The Productivity Commission notes the need for community services, using terms such as services in the community, community-based services, community treatment services, and community support services, to describe a community-based approach to service delivery. One of the key components of Vision 2030 is the need to both define and implement a community-based care system into the overall mental health and suicide prevention system. This will provide the policy and funding framework to accommodate specific services. In relation to those services (as distinct from system), a clear and consistent definition of community services is important, particularly in relation to how the Productivity Commission defines service types in their proposed funding models.

In addition to distinguishing between community-based care system (within mental health) and community services, there is also a need to distinguish between community services and community, including different roles in relation to retaining and reclaiming a contributing life. Recognising the role of community aligns with the NMHC's Contributing Life Framework, where an individual is supported to live a contributing life across health and other domains. A contributing life

is one where an individual is thriving not just surviving; receives effective support, care and treatment; has something meaningful to do, something to look forward to; has connections with family, friends, culture and community; and is feeling safe, stable and secure. The NMHC believes the Final Report should include specific reference to the role of the community in the recovery and wellbeing of individuals, and how to ensure communities are supported to offer activities that enhance social cohesion and encourage individuals to connect.

The greatest benefit comes from the interaction between these three different but aligned components. Where the mental health system has a clear policy and funding framework for services; where services are provided in the community, by the community, to meet community needs; and where the community is supported to meaningfully engage with individuals and build social connectedness. Community services are only as effective as the supportive communities within which they exist and they must have an appropriate policy and funding framework in which to operate.

Recommendation 6. In addition to considering the necessity of a community-based care policy and funding framework within the mental health system (as referenced in Vision 2030), the Productivity Commission's Final Report include a definition of community services and recommendations that strengthen the dual and aligned roles of community and community services.

Health-centric approach to addressing social determinants

The Draft Report adopts a health-centric approach to addressing social determinants. Other portfolios, such as housing, employment, and justice, are included only from the perspective of how they supplement the health care provided to people experiencing mental illness. The report would benefit from including more detailed commentary on how reforms and program improvements in these and other social determinant portfolios, are likely to reduce demand for health services for those with a mental illness.

While the draft recommendations address some social determinants, they do not have sufficient depth and reach to adequately address all the underlying issues that may affect a person's and a population's mental health and wellbeing. These issues include trauma and abuse, poverty, migration experiences, and loss of conventional social connections (loneliness and social isolation). In addition, factors such as substance misuse, family and domestic violence, gambling and addictions warrant more attention.

Recommendation 7. To enable long-term shift in mental health outcomes in Australia, the Productivity Commission's Final Report recommend that the underlying factors of mental illness are routinely addressed in prevention, treatment and support policy and programs across whole-of-government activities.

Greater consideration of lifespan and diversity

A people-oriented system must consider all affected population groups and cohorts. The Draft Report raises the issue of discrimination and increased risk for mental illness for diverse groups, including LGBTIQ and culturally and linguistically diverse people. However, the draft recommendations do not directly address the unique considerations of diverse groups. Similarly, the Draft Report is predominantly adult-centric, with limited discussion or recommendations for reform that would meet the unique needs of children and older adults.

Diverse people

The NMHC notes the limited inclusion in the Draft Report's narrative and recommendations about diversity groups such as LGBTIQ and culturally and linguistically diverse consumers and carers. The NMHC believes it is important that the final report consider in more depth and detail the availability of culturally appropriate services, cultural barriers to services, and awareness of culturally appropriate services to inform a mental health system that responds to the needs of all Australians.

Children

The rapid pace of neurodevelopment during childhood affords key windows for early intervention and prevention. As a result, it is not appropriate to expect children to progress linearly through stepped care for mental health as they might reasonably do for physical health. More appropriate is a mental health system where access to child expertise is available on entry regardless of the level of risk factors or symptoms, so that a child does not have to progress through multiple steps to see a child specialist. This approach would enhance early intervention and minimise the need for multiple assessments and referrals before children receive appropriate care, leading to better outcomes. The National Children's Mental Health and Wellbeing Strategy (CMHWS) led by the NMHC will be exploring options for a more appropriate model of care for children, including the role of parents and wider family systems. For more information on the CMHWS, see PART IV in this section.

Older adults

The NMHC acknowledges the work of the Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety (Royal Commission). The NMHC would welcome inclusion and discussion about the ageing population in the Productivity Commission's Final Report, particularly given that this is a growing population. There is no nationally consistent system for the delivery of mental health services to older people, especially those living in Residential Aged Care Facilities. The quality and accessibility of services vary from place to place, and rural and remote locations tend to be less well served. As stated in the NMHC submission to the Royal Commission, the Australian Government needs to make a clear policy commitment to a coordinated national approach in the aged care and mental health systems to address what the role is of each system component to meet the mental health needs of older people.⁷

Recommendation 8. The Productivity Commission's Final Report address the specific needs of populations such as children, older people, and diverse populations in any model of care presented in the final report.

Recommendation 9. The Productivity Commission's Final Report include a recommendation on the Australian Government's role in a policy commitment to a coordinated national approach to the mental health care of older people.

System capacity and capability

Central to the Productivity Commission's inquiry into mental health is ensuring that Australians' mental health and wellbeing is supported by an effective and efficient system that is adaptive and responsive to current and future demands. The NMHC articulates this through Vision 2030 as a mental health and wellbeing system where needs-matched support is available to every Australian regardless of location. As such, the NMHC believes that system reform needs to include consideration of the capacity and capability of the system to respond to future changes to service demand.

Significant reform includes moving to a cross-portfolio approach to mental health that focuses on wellbeing and reducing stigma and discrimination as barriers to help seeking and entry. As success in these areas are realised, the increased service demand on the mental health and suicide prevention

system should be estimated by the Productivity Commission. Providing socially inclusive services within other portfolios will require an appropriate workforce response. Furthermore reducing stigma and discrimination, and providing a recovery-orientated and wellbeing focused model of services, is likely to increase the demand for mental health services. This increase in demand will need a system, which has an appropriately trained and scaled mental health workforce and which also considers the modalities of service delivery, spanning steps from prevention to treatment and recovery. The NMHC refers to this increase in use of the system as being 'organic growth'.

In addition, as highlighted by the current bushfire crisis, the system will also need to cope with sudden increases in demand. The NMHC refers to this as 'surge growth'. The NMHC believes the system needs to anticipate surge growth as a result of natural disasters and other declared emergency events. In line with national disaster response planning, the focus of the mental health system capacity and capability building needs to span immediate, short-term and longer-term responses and needs. As a complete response, the system needs to have the capacity and capability to provide general prevention and preparedness initiatives for individuals and communities to build resilience before an event, as well as being able to provide localised surge capacity during response and recovery following events.

Recommendation 10. The Productivity Commission's Final Report consider how the mental health and suicide prevention system has the capacity and capability to meet and respond to future expected and unexpected demands on the system.

Natural disasters and mental health

The Council of Australian Governments (COAG) National Strategy for Disaster Resilience notes that 'natural disasters are a feature of the Australian climate and landscape and this threat will continue, not least because climate change is making weather patterns less predictable and more extreme.' This strategy identifies the characteristics of disaster resilient communities as functioning well while under stress, successful adaptation, self-reliance, and social capacity. These are all characteristics that align with a national strategy for mental health and wellbeing.

The effects of acute natural disasters on mental health are well documented, but chronic natural disasters—such as the prolonged drought being experienced by communities across Australia—brings unique challenges. Further work is required to understand how significant changes in climate, natural disasters and the particular effect of long-term exposure to natural disasters and challenges affect communities. This will inform how communities can receive adequate support, especially recognising the disproportionate impact on rural communities and potentially on different population groups, including Indigenous Australians.

The NMHC notes that in the recent *Australia Talks National Survey*, Australians ranked climate change as the biggest issue affecting them personally. The percentage of young people identifying the environment as an issue of national importance has nearly quadrupled since 2018, from 9% to 34%. The percentage of young people identifying the environment as an issue of national importance has nearly quadrupled since 2018, from 9% to 34%.

The NMHC notes that health practitioners increasingly view climate change as a public health issue and recognise their role in identifying, reducing and managing adverse health effects of climate change. The work that has commenced for developing a national strategy on climate, health and wellbeing should be considered in the broader reform directions for mental health.

Section 2: System Reform Areas

PART I - The case for major reform

The community expectation and economic need for major reform is clear and the NMHC supports the Productivity Commission's goal to create a people-oriented mental health system that prioritises prevention and early intervention, and the elimination of service gaps through efficient and effective use of taxpayer funds. The draft recommendations to improve prevention and early intervention address service gaps and create meaningful gateways. Pathways proposed by the Productivity Commission are one way of achieving this goal.

Cross-portfolio and whole-of-government

The NMHC has previously recommended a single central government agency to coordinate and oversee cross-portfolio and whole-of-government approach to mental health policy. ^{1,2} The NMHC would welcome the Productivity Commission considering this or alternative methods to enable a whole-of-government approach to mental health and suicide prevention. It is essential to adequately address the non-health portfolio and social determinants of mental health through a Contributing Life Framework, and to ensure mental health promotion is effective across the government portfolios, including social policy and services, employment, education, housing and justice. Alongside this work, it is also necessary to ensure that any new government policy and program be assessed for their potential impact on the mental health and wellbeing of Australians. There is an opportunity in the Productivity Commission's Final Report for these issues to be more broadly canvassed to achieve this goal.

Key strategies and mechanisms continue to sit within the Australian Government health portfolio. For example, Draft Recommendation 22.2 tasks the COAG Health Council with leading the development of a new National Mental Health Strategy. This strategy must drive reform across all relevant portfolios and levels of governments. It is essential there are formal mechanisms to enable joint ownership and accountability between portfolios and governments and the NMHC would welcome the view of the Productivity Commission in this regard.

Recommendation 11. The Productivity Commission's Final Report address the options as to how to coordinate a cross-portfolio and whole-of-government approach to mental health and the mechanisms that will enable a such an approach to mental health policy and provide strategic oversight to investment.

Change management

Major mental health reform will impact on service delivery from both a providers' perspective and how consumers and carers' experience services. Approaches to minimising any potential disruption for people involved in the system, in particular consumers and carers, will be crucial. The ongoing communication with, and involvement of stakeholders during the implementation of recommendations is critical to their success. It is important that the final report include further detail on how system level reform will be managed, and how individual recommendations will be implemented with authentic engagement with consumers and carers, professional bodies, and service providers. This needs to include strategic level risk assessments on the potential for unintended consequences through poorly executed change management detailed in the final report. Furthermore, for any change in funding arrangements, the implementation authority needs to ensure service continuity and avoid creating new gaps in services, as key priorities.

Recommendation 12. The Productivity Commission's Final Report include detail on stakeholder engagement during the implementation of reforms.

Recommendation 13. The Productivity Commission's Final Report include a recommendation to ensure continuity of service for people affected by new or changed funding arrangements.

Out-of-Pocket costs

The Draft Report seeks information on the out-of-pocket costs of mental health care. The NMHC recognises the out-of-pocket costs of mental health care for consumers and carers in Australia are significant, and continue to be a barrier to help seeking and care.

Social Science Research Solutions conducted the Commonwealth Fund International Health survey in 2013. This survey focused on household out-of-pocket expenditure on the direct costs of health care. Analysis of Australian data showed that over 40% of people with depression, anxiety and other mental health conditions stated they did not seek healthcare treatment because of the cost. ¹³ Additionally, after adjusting for age, sex and education attainment, Australians with depression, anxiety and other mental health conditions had 7.7 times higher odds of not engaging in treatment than Australians with no health condition. This study highlights that individuals with mental health conditions are particularly likely to forego care, indicating a need to address potentially prohibitive costs in this area. The NMHC notes that the survey did not specifically ask respondents about over the counter medication, or aids and equipment, or travel for treatment as part of the question regarding health care expenditure – therefore figures in the study may underestimate the total amount spent by households on healthcare.

Physical health problems also need to be considered in the discussion of out-of-pocket costs of health care. The NMHC commissioned a literature review into the physical health of people living with mental illness that documented the evidence on the impact to costs of comorbidity. ¹⁴ The literature review noted that the additional costs for physical health problems for people living with mental illness has been estimated to increase the costs of healthcare by 70%. ¹⁵

PART II - Reorientating health care services to consumers

The NMHC welcomes the emphasis in the Draft Report on reorienting mental health care services to achieve a better alignment between the service system and meeting the needs of consumers. There is an identified need to ensure people receive appropriate care that matches need and preferences for access. This includes increasing the use of low intensity treatments such as online services evaluated and assessed as effective.

MBS-rebated mental health services

Many of the recommendations for MBS-rebated mental health services are consistent with previous recommendations by the NMHC and current draft findings of the Medicare Review Taskforce Mental Health Reference Group¹⁶. The NMHC specifically notes and supports the recommended expansion of telehealth (or videoconferencing) in Draft Recommendation 5.7 and 7.2. This is a positive step toward increasing equitable access to services for all Australians, particularly those experiencing barriers—such as location, severe physical disabilities, mental health disorders or psychosocial stress—which prevent them from attending face-to-face services. A whole-of-government approach is needed to support the infrastructure and referral structures for expanded telehealth to be effective and efficient.

In relation to Draft Recommendation 5.4, it is important that the increase of MBS rebated sessions is not viewed as a general increase for any person experiencing a mental health illness undergoing treatment. The NMHC believes that more detailed analysis should be undertaken to ensure the evidence-based modalities of care appropriate for specific illness are the ones being delivered and rebated, and that there are outcome measures included in the assessment of the need to increase the number of sessions for a person.

In its submission to the Medicare Review Taskforce, the NMHC encouraged consideration of how to measure and monitor consumers' outcomes as a result of treatments subsidised through the MBS. This includes a focus on the treatment modalities used for different diagnoses and in different circumstances and the match between the consumer's diagnosis and circumstance and the skills and expertise of the treating professional. More detailed information about services funded through the program is needed to enhance accountability for the (at least) \$800 million spent each year to support mental health through the MBS. This information could also deliver greater insight into the effectiveness of services subsidised under the MBS and into where MBS might be a more (or less) appropriate funding vehicle for enabling access to different types of mental health services.

Just as the MBS is an important component of the broader mental health system, so too should work to develop its evidence base be integrated into measurement efforts across the system. The NMHC suggests an inclusive process be undertaken, involving practitioners, experts in mental health outcomes data and processes, and consumer and carer representatives.

Recommendation 14. The Productivity Commission's Final Report include a recommendation that work to develop the MBS evidence-base include specific outcomes that are integrated into measurement efforts across the system; using a co-design process involving all relevant stakeholders.

National Mental Health Workforce Strategy

The NMHC supports Draft Recommendation 11.1 on the National Mental Health Workforce Strategy, but notes that work on the Strategy (announced by the Australian Government in December 2018) is in the early stages. A collaborative approach to developing the Strategy is crucial to ensure it addresses the needs of the growing peer workforce and community mental health sector, as well as appropriately considering the contributions of carers in supplementing the care being provided. Involving states and territories will also ensure a comprehensive plan that addresses future needs of the whole workforce, workforce redesign and modelling of what the future mental health workforce should look like. It would be beneficial for the Strategy to be released with an implementation plan; however, the development of the implementation plan should not delay the release of the Strategy.

Recommendation 15. The Productivity Commission's Final Report include a recommendation for the Australian Government to produce an implementation plan in support of the National Mental Health Workforce Strategy.

Mental health peer workforce

The NMHC supports Draft Recommendation 11.4 on strengthening the peer workforce. The report and recommendation will help to inform ongoing work on the Peer Workforce Development Guidelines project led by the NMHC. The Steering Committee for the Peer Workforce Development Guidelines project endorse the following views.

Promoting the value of peer work

The peer workforce is growing significantly, and is increasingly valued across government and the community sector for contributing to better outcomes for consumers and carers. Despite significant growth, the working conditions for the peer workforce are lagging and its growth is not consistent across jurisdictions, the state and territory mental health services, the community managed sector and the private sector. The NMHC suggests that additional content in the Productivity Commission's final report on the value and contributions of the peer workforce would underline the important role of peer workers, both in supporting person-centered care and in the integral roles peers have in care delivery. The Productivity Commission's Draft Report proposes further demonstration on the ground that such benefits of peer workforce are real (such as through more trials and pilots). The NMHC recommends that the Final Report should go further by prioritising the research needed to establish and consolidate the evidence base on the value of peer work. Peer workers also need to be involved in policy and service design.

Recommendation 16. The Productivity Commission's Final Report include additional content on the value and contributions of the peer workforce.

Recommendation 17. The Productivity Commission's Final Report include a recommendation for research to be conducted as a priority to consolidate the evidence-base for the peer workforce.

Draft short-term recommendations for mental health peer workforce

The NMHC and the Peer Workforce Development Guidelines Steering Committee will consider how work standards for particular areas of practice can support the Guidelines. In September 2019, the NMHC published findings of a feasibility study conducted by the Private Mental Health Consumer Carer Network (recently renamed Lived Experience Australia) into the establishment of a member-based organisation for the peer workforce.¹⁷ The NMHC will provide further advice to the Australian Government on the steps involved for establishing and funding this organisation.

Draft medium-term recommendations for mental health peer workforce

Workplace cultures, negative attitudes in health services, and an underdeveloped system of
qualifications and professional development, are consistently identified as key challenges for the
peer workforce. The Peer Workforce Development Guidelines will provide additional guidance on
these matters. The Guidelines are due for completion before the end of 2021, therefore the draft
medium-term recommendations could, to some degree, be progressed in the short term (within the
next two years).

There are potential benefits of exploring options for recognition of prior learning, both for entry to the peer workforce and for entry of peer workers to other careers in the mental health workforce. However, there is also a need to enhance professional development opportunities and career pathways within the peer workforce, such as through increasing the availability of senior and leadership roles for peer workers with the appropriate qualifications and experience. There is also potential to further support the development of peer worker roles outside traditional health care settings (such as in digital and phone-based services), and to consider career pathways involving broader lived experience roles.

PART III - Reorienting surrounding services to people

The Draft Report recognises that people living with mental illness are more likely to experience poor social, economic, and health outcomes, including homelessness, unemployment, incarceration, and premature death. Therefore, the NMHC welcomes the focus on reorienting surrounding services to people. This focus is consistent with the Contributing Life Framework, which acknowledges the social

determinants of mental health including the role of families, employment, housing, and the justice system in "thriving not just surviving". The services that people use are important, but it is also important to look at the range of services across sectors, and the availability, accessibility, and quality of those services.

It is important to note that to sustainably reform mental health approaches across governments and government portfolios, there needs to be a mental health and suicide prevention framework developed that has a clear focus on shared mental health outcomes, prioritised through incentives, underpinned by evaluation, and with the authority to hold portfolios accountable. This will be some of the areas addressed in the Vision 2030 roadmap work.

Care integration and coordination

Care integration and coordination is critical to ensuring that what will be delivered are the best results for people living with mental illness, as well as for their families and carers. The NMHC supports the Draft Recommendation 10.3 for the development of single care plans for consumers with moderate to severe mental illness who are receiving services across multiple clinical providers. The NMHC has previously noted that a shared single care plan links providers into a person-centred approach with the positive outcome of a person with a lived experience only needing to tell their story once, not many times.¹⁸

The core principle of a person-centred single care plan is the emphasis placed on coordination, collaboration, and inclusivity of the services to meet the individual's recovery goals. The development of a care plan needs to be driven by the consumer and co-designed with all stakeholders including the consumer; supporting consumers' decision-making is integral for the success of a single care plan. This includes supporting a consumer to identify their primary treating clinician and care coordinator, and to establish meaningful recovery goals. It is also essential to consider and consult widely with other service providers including consumer and carer bodies, and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander bodies. In this way, a single care plan promotes engagement with and between relevant stakeholders and ensures all providers are meeting the recovery goals of the individual, and actively managing issues around consent and privacy when sharing information between providers. A person-centred approach to care planning incorporates all aspects of a person's life including their relationships and connections to community and others.

At a system level, the design of any single care plan model also needs to be person-centred and consumer driven, and reflect the same core principles that support the success of an individual's single care plan. Without a considered co-designed approach with all relevant stakeholders, the benefits that could be realised from a single care plan model will not be achieved.

Three out of five people living with a mental illness have a co-existing long-term physical health condition. Therefore, coordinated care needs to be holistic and routinely include physical health checks, supported by the sharing of relevant physical health information between treating health practitioners and care providers, with the informed consent of the consumer. ¹⁹ This aligns with element four of the Equally Well consensus statement that promotes physical health checks as integral to the care of people living with mental illness.

Recommendation 18. The Productivity Commission's Final Report recommendations about single care plans ensure that mental health care plans are implemented based on consultation and codesign with the consumer and relevant stakeholders for that consumer; these plans should also cover physical health checks and support the appropriate and informed sharing of a consumer's physical health information.

Carers and Families

The Draft Report emphasises the need to enhance supports and carer-inclusive service delivery for carers. Best estimates have attempted to develop a replacement cost of mental health carers of \$13.2 billion. However, the role of the mental health carer is unique and estimates lack the inclusion of the impact on relationship stress, emotional wellbeing and carer mental health. This includes the impact on the whole of family, in addition to the identified carer. The complexity of this role, including factors such as the episodic nature of mental illness, create significant barriers in the application of current carer support services. The NMHC supports Draft Recommendation 13.1 including proposed amendments to current carer payment and allowances to increase the flexibility of criteria, taking into consideration the specific nature of the mental illness and the importance of increased flexibility for mental health carers in the workplace.

The NMHC also supports MBS changes under Draft Recommendation 13.3 and note these are consistent with previous submissions and current draft findings of the Medicare Review Taskforce Mental Health Reference Group.¹⁶

Housing and homelessness

The Draft Recommendations on housing and homelessness are consistent with the NMHC's Contributing Life Framework, and the findings of the NMHC commissioned report by the Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute, which highlight the severe mental health consequences that result from even brief periods of homelessness.²¹

Stable housing is a critical foundation in preventing mental illness and for an individual's journey to recovery. The Draft Report presents an approach founded on the national and international evidence that indicates the importance of having a stable home for an individual's ability to lead a contributing life. This evidence highlights that for people living with mental illness, getting and keeping their own home is harder to achieve compared to the general community.

The NMHC supports the prevention of homelessness as a key policy aim, and recommends the Productivity Commission explicitly address the need for policy integration. Lack of policy integration, pooled funding, and cross-sector accountability mechanisms between the housing, homelessness and mental health sectors impedes the development of integrated solutions. Changing these factors requires collaborative leadership across all levels of governments and across sectors.²¹ This includes national monitoring, evaluation and reporting on the implementation of "no discharge into homelessness" policies across sectors (justice and health) in all jurisdictions.

Recommendation 19. The Productivity Commission's Final Report explicitly address the need to integrate housing and homelessness policies with mental health policies.

Justice system

There has been considerable research demonstrating the contribution the justice system has on the ability to achieve public mental health objectives, and the high prevalence of mental disorders among justice-involved populations, including those who come into contact with the police, courts, prisons, and the youth justice system. Prisons and youth detention centres are therefore critical sites for reducing health inequalities.

The NMHC welcomes the Draft Report's recognition of the intersection between mental health and the justice system and supports the recommendations to improve the interventions for people that are within the justice system. However, additional action is required to achieve parity between the

mental health support available for those in the justice system and the support available to people through the mainstream mental health system.

Mental illness and the justice system have a complicated relationship. Involvement with the justice system does not only mean people engaged in the criminal courts or who are incarcerated, but also includes people engaged with civil and family courts, police, and who are victims of crime. While most people with a mental illness, including those with major illnesses, do not commit crimes, people living with a mental illness are more likely to be involved within the justice system²². Additionally, if not provided appropriate mental health support, people living with a mental illness are more likely to become re-involved with the justice system. It is likely that access to earlier intervention and appropriate care would prevent involvement within the justice system. Significantly overrepresented within mental illness prevalence and within the justice system, are Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. Reforms in both systems need to address the profound generational impact on individuals and communities both presently and in the future.

The NMHC recommended in the first submission to the Productivity Commission the implementation of a justice reinvestment approach to criminal justice, initially for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities, and pending the evaluation of this initiative that the approach is rolled out broadly. That submission detailed the rationale for this recommendation. The Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Suicide Prevention Evaluation Project (ATSISPEP) final report also recommended a justice reinvestment approach to redirect government funding away from the criminal justice system into local Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities, to develop community-led upstream diversionary activity for Indigenous young people. Noting concerns that there is insufficient evidence to support justice reinvestment, the NMHC urges the Productivity Commission to make a recommendation to build the evidence base for early intervention and prevention initiatives such as justice reinvestment and health justice partnerships, as reform areas of greatest potential.

Draft Recommendation 16.1 which focuses on support for police, should also consider the mental health of first responders, including police and other emergency services, in the development of strategies to reduce the risk of mental illness and promote mental resilience amongst this workforce.²³

The NMHC has commissioned work to audit government strategies, policies and plans and report on gaps in the justice system. This will include some identification and analysis of transition supports and may include commentary on the appropriate treatment of forensic patients. The final report is due in the first quarter of 2020 and the NMHC will share the findings, particularly as they relate to information requests 16.1 and 16.2, at that time.

Recommendation 20. The Productivity Commission's Final Report include a recommendation to build the evidence base for early intervention and prevention initiatives such as justice reinvestment and health justice partnerships.

Psychosocial support and the National Disability Insurance Scheme

The introduction of the National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) has changed the way in which psychosocial support services in Australia are funded, delivered and accessed. Many people with severe and complex mental illness require psychosocial support, including but not limited to NDIS participants with a psychosocial disability. The NMHC agrees with the Productivity Commission's position that psychosocial support must be made available to all those who need it regardless of whether they access the NDIS.

The NMHC supports Draft Recommendation 12.1 for all governments to extend the contract length for psychosocial supports. The Australian Government has extended the three year funding cycles for Primary Health Networks (PHNs) to include an additional 12 months funding on an annual basis based on meeting performance criteria. However, as noted in the NMHC's National Report 2019, there is no requirement for the PHNs to enter into longer term contracts with services providers. It is important that the Australian Government encourage PHNs to extend the contract length for existing psychosocial support services who can demonstrate efficacy and suitability in providing services in their region, and where feasible, enter into longer-term contracts when commissioning services with new providers.

There is also a critical need to address how governments will meet the service needs of the significant proportion of people with psychosocial disability who do not apply for the NDIS or who are found ineligible for the scheme. The NMHC supports Draft Recommendation 12.2 to change requirements for continued access to psychosocial support so that anyone who requires it is able to access it, including former participants of Australian Government-funded psychosocial supports. A national evaluation of barriers to applying for the NDIS will provide insight into what is required at a national level to support those that do not apply for the NDIS, or who are not successful in gaining access. Results of any evaluation conducted on people applying for the NDIS should be publicly available.

The NMHC supports Draft Recommendation 12.3 that the NDIA continue to improve its approach to people with psychosocial disability by completing evaluations of the psychosocial disability stream trials, and incorporating lessons learned into the stream. In order to understand what does and does not work, it is important that the NDIA publish information about evaluation outcomes of trials and pilots relating to people with psychosocial disability.

Recommendation 21. The Productivity Commission's Final Report include a recommendation for the Australian Government to encourage Primary Health Networks to extend the contract length for existing psychosocial support services who can demonstrate efficacy and suitability in providing services in their region, and where feasible, enter into longer-term contracts when commissioning services with new providers.

Recommendation 22. The Productivity Commission's Final Report include a recommendation that the Australian Government and state and territory governments ensure that in the long-term, people who apply, or who are found ineligible, for the NDIS have access to adequate psychosocial support services.

Recommendation 23. The Productivity Commission's Final Report include a recommendation for a national evaluation that explores barriers to applying for the NDIS, as well as the availability and access to psychosocial support for people who do not apply or who are ineligible for the NDIS.

PART IV - Early Intervention and Prevention

The Draft Report recognises the significance of early intervention and prevention to achieving positive mental health outcomes and maintaining wellbeing. The broad approach of lifespan, illness, and episode to early intervention used by the Productivity Commission is particularly welcomed. However, as stated in Section 1 of this submission, the NMHC believes that the Final Report should reconsider the reform approach to children's services.

Early Childhood

The importance of early intervention and prevention for the mental health and wellbeing of children is well established, with more than half of all mental illness beginning before age 14.²⁴ Supporting mental health and wellbeing in children, and intervening early when individuals are at risk reduces distress, disadvantage and disability over the lifetime. There is an increasing awareness of the critical window between conception and a child's second birthday ('the first thousand days') both for physical and mental health outcomes into adulthood.²⁵

National Children's Mental Health and Wellbeing Strategy

The NMHC supports the inclusion of early intervention and prevention as a priority reform area by the Productivity Commission, and is pleased to be leading the development of the National Children's Mental Health and Wellbeing Strategy (CMHWS). The CMHWS was announced in August 2019, as part of the Australian Government's Long-Term National Health Plan. The CMHWS focusses on children from 0-12 years and is intended to provide a framework for preventing mental illness and reducing its impact on children, families and the community and to guide and inform the Government's investment in this domain.

Recommendation 24. The Productivity Commission's Final Report recommend the National Children's Mental Health and Wellbeing Strategy be used to guide future funding, program and policy decisions.

Perinatal mental illness

The NMHC supports Draft Recommendation 17.1 for universal screening for perinatal mental illness, and notes the related commentary identifies the need for appropriate and available services to be available for referral when screening has a positive result. However, there would be utility in providing explicit referral pathways and identification of services at the point of introduction of screening.

The NMHC further notes that expansion of the Perinatal National Minimum Data Set may not be an effective tool for identification of referrals and outcomes, given that the current definition of the perinatal period in this data collection commences at 20 completed weeks (140 days) of gestation and ends 28 completed days after birth²⁶. This appears to exclude the onset of maternal (parental) mental illness beyond 28 days post-partum and does not provide for long-term follow up of referrals and treatment outcomes beyond this period.

Recommendation 25. The Productivity Commission's Final Report strengthen the recommendation regarding universal perinatal screening and perinatal national minimum dataset to ensure it includes the need for explicit referral pathways and identified services, and screening is conducted at optimal timing.

Pre-school aged children

The Draft Report highlights the opportunity to improve the engagement of pre-school aged children and their families in early intervention and prevention in relation to mental health. However, expansion (or re-instatement) of early childhood checks must be underpinned by availability of specialised child mental health services supporting community and primary health care with consultation and advice. This also applies to the upskilling of early childhood educators in the social and emotional wellbeing of children, as part of professional development. Such training needs to occur in parallel with access to specialist child mental health services for support with identification,

management and referral pathways where necessary and for the introduction of social and emotional wellbeing leaders in schools.

Recommendation 26. The Productivity Commission's Final Report strengthen the recommendations around early childhood checks and early childhood educators to ensure that they are underpinned by specialised child mental health services supporting community and primary health care.

Schools

Given the critical role the education system plays in supporting the mental health and wellbeing of children and young people, the NMHC supports the recommendation for educational reforms such as the introduction of School Wellbeing Leaders. The education system provides the ideal environment to provide and support early intervention and universal prevention programs to all school-aged children and young people, and a dedicated role would support delivery of inclusive programs and activities that specifically address the needs of the school's population. For example, the school based interventions to prevent bullying, anxiety, and depression, modelled as part of the NMHC project on the economics of investing in mental health prevention.²⁷

To enable the successful delivery of this reform, the Productivity Commission need to consider the following:

- School wellbeing leaders must preferably be experienced with specialist expertise in child mental health and wellbeing. Where specialist expertise in child mental health is lacking, school wellbeing leaders should be trained in child social and emotional development and mental health at a minimum.
- School wellbeing leaders should be appropriately supported, with direct lines to specialist child mental health services to provide advice, recommendations and treatment if required.
- The position of school wellbeing leader should not replace existing mental health and wellbeing supports within schools, but rather oversee and coordinate these supports (such as school psychologist and counsellors).
- School wellbeing leaders should perform a capacity building function and facilitate mental health and wellbeing awareness workshops or training for teachers, parents and students
- The program needs to be integrated with other local social and psychosocial support services, be flexible enough to accommodate local and regional differences, and be delivered using a family inclusive approach.

A key question for the Productivity Commission to consider is whether these positions would be funded by the education or health portfolio. A whole-of-government approach to mental health requires consideration of issues of funding and collaboration where outcomes from one portfolio drives outcomes in another portfolio, such as the intersect of mental health outcomes driving education outcomes and how the two sectors combine.

Social Inclusion

The NMHC welcomes the emphasis in the Draft Report on the benefit of social participation and inclusion in preventing mental illness and supporting recovery and wellbeing. The Draft Report acknowledges the role that socioeconomic disadvantage, stigma and discrimination play in social exclusion and mental illness, with recommendations for improvement covered in the specific sections such as housing, employment, justice, healthcare services and psychosocial supports. The NMHC believes that this approach can be further strengthened to ensure that the needs of vulnerable consumers' are understood and met when accessing services across government and

non-government sectors. The NMHC encourages the Productivity Commission to highlight the responsibility the Australian Government has in leading reform in this area by ensuring that policies and processes to improve the experience and meet the needs of vulnerable consumers are developed across all of government services.

The NMHC supports Draft Recommendation 20.2 concerning improvements in standards and practices in the insurance sector (particularly life insurance) in relation to mental health. The results of any and all reviews, evaluations and monitoring processes related to this recommendation should be made public within a reasonable timeframe of their completion, or where possible (through ongoing monitoring) at regular intervals during the review and evaluation process.

Recommendation 27. The Productivity Commission's Final Report recommends the Australian Government reviews government service policies and processes to meet the needs and improve the experience of vulnerable consumers.

Recommendation 28. The Productivity Commission's Final Report recommends the outcomes of reviews, evaluations or monitoring relating to the improvements of standards and practices in the insurance sector be made public.

Suicide prevention

The NMHC notes that the Productivity Commission's view of the need for a whole-of-government approach to suicide prevention is consistent with the decision by COAG in December 2018 to elevate suicide to a whole-of-government issue and a COAG priority.

At a population level, there is good evidence to indicate improved mental health and wellbeing in our communities can contribute to a reduction in suicidality and completed suicides. However, the NMHC acknowledges that further work is required to adequately address how investments in prevention and wellbeing activities will contribute to a lasting reduction on suicide rates and levels of suicide behaviour in Australia. The linkage between major mental health reform and more effective suicide prevention needs to be explored and articulated. In particular, attention needs to be given to the important contribution that reducing psychological distress and the prevalence of mental illness, and increasing mental resilience, will have on suicide prevention.

The NMHC supports the specific recommendations targeting reducing fragmentation and confusion around roles and responsibilities in suicide prevention, and renewing the National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Suicide Prevention Strategy and associated implementation plan, but notes that any plan specific to the needs of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples also aligns, as much as possible, with other national suicide prevention plans and initiatives. The NMHC also supports the establishment of universal access to aftercare in line with evidence-based practices for anyone who presents to a hospital, GP or other government service following a suicide attempt. However, by limiting access to this care to people who have already attempted suicide, people who present to services with suicidal ideation in the absence of an attempt would be excluded. The definition, scope and resourcing of aftercare services should be expanded in scope based on an evidence-based approach and best practice.

Recommendation 29. The Productivity Commission's Final Report strengthen the recommendation regarding availability of aftercare services to include people experiencing suicidal ideation in the absence of a suicide attempt, incorporating an evidence-based approach and best practice.

Mentally Healthy Workplaces

The NMHC supports the draft recommendations and agrees that addressing underperformance due to work strain, anxiety and work-related stress will yield significant productivity gains. In the discussion of work-place mental health, the NMHC suggests the Productivity Commission strengthens the wording on the responsibility of workplaces to support employees irrespective of the cause of their mental health conditions. The NMHC's National Workplace Initiative will be addressing several of the issues identified in the Draft Report, including:

- supporting employers to address work outcomes for those with a work-related mental health condition
- identifying the workplace initiatives and programs that are likely to reduce the risks of workplace psychological injury for various workplaces according to size, industry and occupation
- working with Employee Assistance Program providers to improve the quality of services by strengthening the evidence on outcomes and trends, and to support improved employer understanding of EA Programs
- monitoring and collecting evidence from employer interventions to create mentally healthy workplaces.

The National Workplace Initiative will enhance the current state and industry-level initiatives underway by improving employers' access to contemporary research findings and by addressing employers' acknowledged need for clear and practical implementation assistance. The National Workplace Initiative is looking at policy and systems rather than regulation and is guided by a broad stakeholder body (the Mentally Healthy Workplace Alliance). It is looking to address the needs of a broad range of employers from sole-traders, small to medium enterprises, larger organisations, government and non-government organisations.

Through the National Workplace Initiative, the NMHC intends to strengthen the national conversation about the likely impact of future workforce trends and suggest the Productivity Commission's final report supports this approach.

Recommendation 30. The Productivity Commission's Final Report recommend the National Workplace Initiative be used to guide and inform future funding, program and policy decisions.

PART V - Pulling together the reforms

The Draft Report describes the complex landscape of policy documents, funding and service responsibilities that exist at a macro level in the mental health and suicide prevention system, and highlights the important role of leadership in the successful implementation of reforms. The Draft Report places the COAG Health Council as central to providing the national leadership for whole-of-government and cross-portfolio reforms predominantly through the new National Mental Health Strategy and the National Mental Health and Suicide Prevention Agreement. These seek to bring a systemic perspective to mental health and suicide prevention by clearly defining the areas of policy and funding responsibility, ensuring transparent evaluation occurs, and shared outcomes and targets are applied. The NMHC supports these areas of reform and acknowledges the recommendations in the Draft Report are one way of achieving this intent.

Governance, responsibilities and consumer participation

The NMHC supports the Draft Report's approach to strengthening the cross-portfolio and whole-of-government efforts beyond the current health focus and governance structures. The NMHC

appreciates the intent of the proposed National Mental Health Strategy and supporting National Mental Health and Suicide Prevention Agreement to meet these functions. The Final Report would benefit from providing greater clarity around how these new policy documents will overcome limitations of the current policy documents and governance structures, and more detail on the mechanisms that enable the whole-of-government approach.

The Draft Report recognises the need to strengthen the involvement of consumers and carers in all aspects of system planning but provides limited guidance on how this will be achieved. As the Victorian Royal Commission noted, a redesigned mental health system can only be truly responsive if the people who turn to it for help—those with the most at stake—are involved in its creation.²⁸ The final report needs to be clear on how consumers and carers are going to be directly involved in all aspects of system planning, design, monitoring and evaluation.

The NMHC supports an organisational structure/s for the collective voices of consumers and carers to be supported by all governments to ensure authentic collaboration. However, the NMHC recognises that there is a contested view across the sector as to whether a structural peak body is for consumers and/or carers.

Recommendation 31. The Productivity Commission's Final Report strengthen the recommendation to enhance consumer and carer involvement in all aspects of system planning, design, monitoring and evaluation, by providing detail on how this can be achieved.

Funding

The Draft Report identifies the funding complexities that exist in the current mental health and suicide prevention system, in particular for the government funded services and programs, but also compounded by the significant role played by non-government organisations in the delivery of services. The Draft Report argues that for the system to improve, the funding model needs to be simplified to a single commissioning process and/or the amount of funding provided by Governments needs increasing. The draft recommendations place greater emphasis on the former than the latter. There are significant benefits to simplifying the funding model, but increased funding should not be ignored as a means to improve outcomes.

The Draft Report provides significant evidence of the economic costs of mental illness to Australia but there is limited financial modeling to demonstrate the cost efficiencies of the reforms recommended by the Productivity Commission. An estimate of the investment required to achieve the outcomes intended through the Productivity Commission's recommendations would be welcomed. This would improve the ability to target system reform and develop a true cross-portfolio approach to the delivery of services in the mental health and suicide prevention system. Without proper economic modelling it is not possible to determine the desired or unintended impact of a non-health social policy change, such as improved access to housing, on mental health and suicide prevention outcomes. With this modelling, the positive health benefits of funding an initiative in another government portfolio can be clearly demonstrated, supporting cross-portfolio collaboration.

The Draft Report also describes funding imbalances between the Australian and state and territory governments, and presents two options for future funding—a 'rebuild' model and a 'renovate' model. The NMHC supports funding changes that allow mental health and suicide prevention services to be commissioned regionally, where local needs are better understood. However, the NMHC is hesitant to support a 'rebuild' model. In addition to creating major disruptions to existing services and structures with the potential to impact negatively on people and communities, a

'rebuild' model where funding is moved from the Australian Government to state and territory governments for regional commissioning has some challenges:

- It does not recognise that state and territory governments, who are traditionally responsible for commissioning and implementing tertiary care, may not be best placed to understand or commission primary care services.
- It does not provide for adequate monitoring of the return on investment of Australian Government funds.
- It creates another 'layer' between funders, service providers and consumers and carers.

The NMHC strongly supports regional approaches to commissioning but believes this needs to recognise and leverage the federated model of health care funding and care delivery.

Regardless of who is responsible for funding services, mechanisms must be put in place to ensure services are commissioned to meet the needs of the community, and are integrated seamlessly from the consumer and carer perspective. This means greater analysis and emphasis needs to be placed on reforming the commissioning processes to ensure decisions are strategically aligned, coordinated, and duly diligent. As a legacy of traditional and historical approaches to service delivery, the funding model is imbalanced, with greater weight given to the primary and acute care services. Future funding models need to strengthen the approach to funding services across the stepped care model, and include early intervention and community-based services. This will ensure the funding model supports not only people experiencing mental illnesses but also the prevention of mental illness and promotion of wellbeing and recovery.

Recommendation 32. The Productivity Commission's Final Report include recommendations that ensure any new funding models can support a community needs approach and are able to fund services across the whole stepped care model.

Monitoring, evaluation, and reporting

The NMHC supports the strengthening of the evaluation of the Australian investment in the mental health and suicide prevention system in terms of efficiency and effectiveness. The NMHC monitoring, evaluation and reporting role is discussed further in Section 3 of this submission. The NMHC has long advocated for a coordinated, ongoing and expanded approach to mental health and suicide prevention data. The recommendations in the Draft Report go some way to improving the overall approach to mental health and suicide prevention data, however the report would benefit from additional advice about how economic modelling can be used to better understand how investments in mental health contribute to better outcomes.

Recommendation 33. The Productivity Commission's Final Report includes advice on how economic modelling can be used to inform the ongoing monitoring, and reporting evaluation of the mental health and suicide prevention sector.

Section 3: Draft Recommendations for the National Mental Health Commission

The Draft Report includes a number of draft recommendations for the NMHC and requests additional information from the sector to inform these recommendations for the Final Report.

Draft Recommendations for change of role for NMHC – national evaluation role and multijurisdictional body

Draft Recommendations - 22.5 - Building a stronger evaluation culture and 25.7 - Principles for conducting program evaluations

The Draft Report has a specific recommendation to enhance the NMHC's role to independently monitor and report on the mental health and suicide prevention system, provide policy and practice advice, and act as a catalyst for improvement. This recommendation seeks to clarify and authorise the NMHC's function as an independent cross-portfolio multijurisdictional monitoring, evaluation and reporting body for government funded mental health and suicide prevention programs, and non-health programs that contribute to these outcomes.

The Draft Report includes Draft Recommendation 25.7 that ensures appropriate sector consultation occurs to develop the evaluation principles for the NMHC, before authorising these principles through the COAG Health Council.

These recommendations are framed around the COAG Health Council endorsing the NMHC to undertake a broad-ranging evaluation role, and in undertaking this additional responsibility, there is a need for the NMHC to become a statutory authority.

Becoming a statutory authority would enhance the interjurisdictional monitoring, evaluation and reporting role of the NMHC by:

- legislating the relationships and responsibilities for conducting system evaluation and improvement
- documenting independence and expert status
- increasing the ability to hold others accountable.

The NMHC considers that the coordination and oversight of a strategic whole-of-government approach to mental health should be conducted separately from the body responsible for monitoring, evaluating and reporting mental health policy outcomes. It is important that the responsibility for policy delivery and coordination be separated from the responsibility to monitor, evaluate and report on policy outcomes, so that independence and integrity can be achieved for both functions. The transparent arrangement of responsibility for these functions is also important in fostering public trust in the mental health and suicide prevention system. However, just as important as achieving independence is ensuring that these functions are coordinated and complementary. It is possible to achieve this within a single organisation (that provides separate functions).

The NMHC supports the need for the sector to have both functions, (the coordination and evaluation of mental health and suicide prevention policy), to better understand the value of the investments being made in support of systemic improvement and achievement of outcomes. The NMHC acknowledges the small number of government bodies that would already have, or be reasonably able to develop, the specialist knowledge and level of independence to conduct these functions. The Draft Report reflects the level of support from within the sector for the NMHC to undertake these functions. As such, the NMHC is open to taking on the responsibility of providing these functions to the sector, and notes the benefits of becoming a statutory body to the expanded NMHC role of independently monitoring, evaluating and reporting on the mental health and suicide prevention system.

Recommendation 34. The NMHC supports the Productivity Commission's recommendations for the NMHC to independently monitor, evaluate and report on the mental health and suicide prevention system and notes the need to identify the mechanisms to support this responsibility.

System evaluation

The NMHC agrees that the mental health and suicide prevention system requires greater robustness in its evaluation culture. The NMHC also believes the drivers for this extend beyond the public funding efficiency and effectiveness outcomes as currently identified in the Draft Report and should include the drivers for cultural change outcomes that are important for all system participants, in particular consumers and carers, based around the Contributing Life Framework.

The Draft Report calls for the NMHC to lead the evaluation approach, through a consultative coordination and expert guidance function, including program level evaluations. The NMHC supports such an evaluation function and notes that it would be based on an evaluation at a systems level (which would include program evaluation as necessary to evaluate the effectiveness and efficiency of the system). System level evaluation needs to be conducted through impact evaluation methodologies that recognise contextual, environment and program contributions, rather than only applying an attribution approach to program level evaluations.

This is important when designing a system level evaluation framework. While research and program evaluations seek to control for other influences on the measured outcome, a system level evaluation has to find other ways to accommodate the complexity of the 'real world'. In the 'real world' consumers and carers access multiple programs and services, which is why outcomes cannot be directly attributed to a single program or service. Therefore, system level outcomes are derived by looking at the collective impact across programs and services. The NMHC's evaluation function needs to ensure that regional or local program evaluations are translated into continuous improvement of national policy, practices, and services. For a country as geographically spread and regionally diverse as Australia, these 'real world' variations are critical to the effective monitoring, evaluation and reporting at a national level. For governments, across all jurisdictions, there is a need for data and advice that relates clearly to the experiences and varied needs of different subpopulations and communities, within a national policy framework.

Independence

A core tenet of evaluation methodology is independence. The NMHC recommended in the first submission to the Productivity Commission that the NMHC's position in government be reviewed to strengthen independence in support of the monitoring, evaluation and reporting role. The Draft Report stated that a secondary motivation for providing statutory authority to the NMHC was to increase the level of independence, and a number of sector representatives supported this method to strengthen the independence of the NMHC.

Sequence of recommendations

The Productivity Commission's recommendation for the NMHC to have statutory authority and conduct an evaluation function is a medium term (2-5 years) outcome. The Draft Report recommends that the issue of NMHC's statutory authority and evaluation role be informed by sector consultations and COAG Health Council agreement in the short term (1-2 years). This timeframe is reasonable when considering the actions required to build the evaluation specialist capability and capacity within the NMHC, and appropriately resource and structure the NMHC in support of this focus. The medium term timeframe also supports the requirement to clearly identify and articulate the NMHC role as a statutory body and effect the legislative change required to underpin this change.

The Draft Report makes short-term recommendations for the NMHC to immediately conduct an evaluation function, such as a meta-analysis of the suicide prevention trial sites. To achieve success in these short-term evaluation recommendations, the NMHC will require mechanisms to support the interjurisdictional monitoring, evaluation and reporting role, in lieu of statutory authority. Implementing these recommendations successfully will rely on significant change management planning and support from other agencies and the sector.

Recommendation 35. The Productivity Commission's Final Report needs to make short-term recommendations that support the NMHC to immediately conduct the independent monitoring, evaluation and reporting role.

Draft Recommendation - 25.4 - Strengthened monitoring and reporting

The NMHC supports the recommendation for strengthened monitoring and reporting, and suggests this function is referred to as a monitoring, evaluation and reporting function so that the ongoing and continuous monitoring is reinforced, in addition to the periodic evaluations and the scheduled reporting.

Recommendation 36. The Productivity Commission's Final Report should refer to the NMHC role as monitoring, evaluation and reporting.

Social determinants and Contributing Life Framework

The NMHC has consistently advocated through the Contributing Life Framework for the inclusion of social determinants when monitoring and reporting on mental health, suicide prevention and wellbeing reforms and outcomes. The NMHC places consumer and carer outcomes as core to the meaningful monitoring, evaluation and reporting of the mental health and suicide prevention (inclusive of wellbeing) system. The NMHC recommended the Australian Government make the collection of experiential data a routine part of service delivery through the administration of surveys for consumers, carers, and the Living in the Community Questionnaire². The NMHC Fifth Plan monitoring and reporting is informed by a consumer and carer survey, where the findings are publically available in a specific report.²⁹

Outcome framework for evaluation

In 2018 the NMHC engaged the Nous Group to develop a monitoring and reporting framework for mental health and suicide prevention for 2018 to 2022 to inform NMHC's monitoring and reporting work.³⁰ The purpose of the framework was allow the NMHC to identify outcomes based on the Contributing Life Framework and informed by consumers and carers. The NMHC has used the monitoring and reporting framework principles to improve the approach to monitoring for the NMHC's annual National Reports, Fifth Plan reporting, and spotlight reporting.

Evaluation should be orientated to an outcome framework for mental health and wellbeing of the Australian population, and employ an outcomes mapping approach to ensure outcomes are well articulated and considered from short term program and service level outputs to the long-term population level outcomes.

The NMHC recognises there is still much to do to move the routine monitoring and reporting focus towards consumer and carer outcomes and include social determinants through a cross-portfolio remit. The NMHC is committed to working with all relevant stakeholders and sector experts in the development of a monitoring, evaluation and reporting approach focused on outcomes derived from the Contributing Life Framework, including developing an indicator set to monitor progress against these outcomes. Such a coordinated approach is critical to enabling the NMHC to monitor, evaluate

and report on the various current or planned strategies or frameworks in this space. An uncoordinated approach to monitoring, evaluation and reporting would limit the usefulness of reports to system beneficiaries including policy makers, service providers and importantly consumers and carers.

Recommendation 37. The Productivity Commission's Final Report include a stronger definition of an outcome framework and incorporates the Contributing Life Framework and the relationship of this framework to the monitoring, evaluation and reporting actions for the NMHC.

As previously stated the NMHC supports the intent of the draft recommendation for the Australian Government to establish a National Mental Health Strategy to cement cross-portfolio whole-of-government efforts and coordinate the supporting strategies into a shared outcome model. In effect, this is what is being achieved through the Vision 2030 and its roadmap. Aligned with this, the NMHC supports the draft recommendation to establish publicly reported targets for the outcomes through an appropriate methodology and via collaboration. As recommended in the NMHC's National Report 2019, the NMHC supports transparency in monitoring, evaluation and reporting methods and ensuring the outcomes are made public. This approach would increase efficiencies in the NMHC's monitoring, evaluation and reporting of the system and enhance the meaningfulness of reporting to all beneficiaries.

Recommendation 38. The Productivity Commission's Final Report notes that the evaluation framework will be co-designed with all relevant stakeholders including consumers and carers, and that reporting of outcomes are to be made public.

Data

The NMHC notes any efficiencies and improvements to monitoring and reporting is reliant on routinely collected data that is available, accessible, and consistent across jurisdictions. While the Draft Report acknowledges issues around data, the recommendations for improvement are predominantly medium to long-term, which does not support short-term improvements in monitoring, evaluation and reporting.

Recommendation 39. The Productivity Commission's Final Report considers making recommendations to ensure national data quality and consistency is improved as a priority of any national strategy or agreement.

Draft Recommendations for the NMHC to monitor, evaluate and report on specific actions

The Draft Report contains a number of recommendations which task the NMHC with monitoring, evaluating and reporting specific actions, such as the proposed National Mental Health Strategy. As a core function the NMHC currently monitors and reports on the mental health system and major reforms through the annual National Report and Fifth Plan report. The NMHC remains committed to monitoring and reporting on the mental health system and major reforms regardless of the outcome of the Draft Report recommendation for the NMHC to strengthen the monitoring and reporting role by including an evaluation function and to become a statutory authority.

The NMHC specific recommendations are listed below in the order they appear in the Draft Report,. The sequence does not reflect the significance or priority the NMHC places on the recommendation.

Draft Recommendation - 11.4 Strengthen the peer workforce

The NMHC supports the recommendation to establish a national representational / regulatory body for the peer workforce. For further discussion, see Section 2 of this submission.

Draft Recommendation - 13.3 Family-focused and carer-inclusive practice

The NMHC acknowledges the intent of the recommendation to improve outcomes for children of parents with mental illness by commissioning a trial and evaluation of the efficacy of employing dedicated staff to facilitate family-focused practice in state and territory government mental health services. The NMHC would support the design and evaluation of the trial, regardless of how the trial was funded.

It is a service wide responsibility to ensure family-focused and carer-inclusive mental health service delivery and the NMHC proposes that the Productivity Commission consider alternative ways to achieve these aims. For example, the Private Mental Health Consumer Carer Network (recently renamed Lived Experience Australia) has developed *A practical guide for working with carers of people with a mental illness* accompanied by online training, an online library, app and implementation plan, which may prove informative.³¹

Mental health and suicide prevention services should provide family-focused and carer-inclusive care as routine practice. To inform this practice the NMHC recommended in the first submission to the Productivity Commission that state and territory governments consider implementing the Mental Health Carer Experience Survey as a routine service measure, and that findings from data such as these surveys be made public.

Draft Recommendation - 17.1 Perinatal mental health

The NMHC supports the NMHC role in this recommendation. For further discussion, see Section 2 of this submission.

Draft Recommendation - 20.1 National stigma reduction strategy

The NMHC supports the intent of the recommendation for the NMHC to develop and drive the implementation of a national stigma reduction strategy that focuses on the experiences of people with mental illness that is poorly understood in the community. It is important to note that the recommendation includes some actions listed in the Fifth Plan. The NMHC Connections tour heard from individuals and communities that stigma and discrimination continue to be a significant barrier to care for those who require it. As a result, stigma reduction is identified as an essential component of care and prevention in the NMHC's Vision 2030, which focuses on three types of stigma, self, societal, and structural (discrimination), with the latter focusing not only on health professionals, but across many levels of society including; employment, visas and immigration, insurance, family court issues around custody of children, and access to housing and other social determinants.

The Fifth Plan has a Priority Area that is focused on reducing stigma and discrimination in which Governments are tasked with developing options for a nationally coordinated approach to stigma and discrimination. Although progress on this action is delayed, the NMHC considers that the development, implementation, and monitoring and reporting of a specific stigma reduction strategy will make all governments more publicly accountable.

Building on current work under the Fifth Plan, the NMHC encourages the national approach to stigma reduction to include other appropriate evidence-based approaches beyond awareness raising activities. The approach would also benefit from strengthening the engagement of consumers and carers, and the inclusion of expertise in communications and public health messaging. The NMHC would welcome the opportunity to take a lead role in coordinating this work to reduce the current high levels of stigma in Australia.

Draft Recommendation - 21.3 Approach to suicide prevention

The NMHC supports the draft recommendation for the current trials that follow a systems approach to suicide prevention to be evaluated. The NMHC acknowledges the work that has been conducted in each of the trial sites and supports bringing the information from the various suicide prevention trials together to identify the specific improvements, resources and service developments that can be applied nationally. This will ensure that benefits from each trial site are realised for the improvement of the national mental health and suicide prevention system for the benefit of all Australians. While the Productivity Commission has made this a medium term recommendation, the NMHC suggests this action should be undertaken as a priority so the evaluation findings can be applied to funding decisions in a timely manner. This approach will require all stakeholders involved in the various suicide prevention trials to contribute to the development and application of an evaluation framework that supports sharing of data and outcomes across the sites.

Recommendation 40. The Productivity Commission's Final Report to make the evaluation of the suicide prevention trial sites a priority so the evaluation findings can be applied to funding decisions in a timely manner.

Recommendation 41. The Productivity Commission's Final Report make a recommendation for all stakeholders involved in the suicide prevention trial sites to support the development and implementation of an evaluation framework for a meta-analysis across trial site findings and for translation into recommendations that can be applied across all Australian regions and jurisdictions.

Draft Recommendation - 22.2 A new whole-of-government mental health strategy

The NMHC supports a whole-of-government cross-portfolio and multijurisdictional approach to mental health and suicide prevention, and the formal mechanisms to allow this. The NMHC seeks clarification on how the Productivity Commission proposes to position the new National Mental Health Strategy in relation to existing and planned national mental health policy, such as Vision 2030, the Sixth Plan, and the National Suicide Prevention Implementation Strategy.

The NMHC supports the recommendation to monitor, evaluate and report annually on the progress of the Strategy, but notes that this is based on evaluating the implementation of the activities and initiatives that are formulated under the strategy. As important, is evaluating the effectiveness of the strategy, ensuring that the strategy has achieved what it said it was going to do. The NMHC suggests the Productivity Commission articulates the need to evaluate the strategy and its implementation in the Final Report.

Recommendation 42. The Productivity Commission's Final Report makes the NMHC responsible for the monitoring, evaluation and reporting of the National Mental Health Strategy.

Recommendation 43. The Productivity Commission's Final Report recommends the National Mental Health Strategy and National Mental Health and Suicide Prevention Agreement have a crossportfolio and multijurisdictional approach and are adopted by all governments.

Draft Recommendation - 22.3 Enhancing consumer and carer participation

The NMHC supports the recommendation for the monitoring and reporting on total expenditure by individual jurisdictions on systemic advocacy in mental health provided by peak representative bodies. The NMHC notes that reporting on expenditure for peak body advocacy does not equate to building lived experience and co-production capabilities. Any monitoring, evaluation and reporting

of this action would depend on the ability to access relevant data, including at a minimum the data described in the medium term goal of this recommendation.

Conclusion

The changes recommended in the Draft Report are substantial and outline a path towards long-term reform of the mental health system. In this submission, the NMHC has highlighted some key areas for the Productivity Commission to consider to strengthen the whole-of-government and community-based approach to mental health and suicide prevention.

The NMHC welcomes ongoing conversations with the Productivity Commission on the Final Report, the reform priorities, and the future role of the NMHC. In particular, the important and complementary link between Vision 2030 and the directions of the Productivity Commission Final Report.

In a sector that some describe as suffering "review fatigue" it is essential that the Productivity Commission's final recommendations for system reform are action oriented, appropriately prioritised and risk-assessed, and accompanied by clear implementation pathways. The NMHC encourages the Productivity Commission to consider the issues raised in this submission and looks forward to working together to ensure the reforms enable all Australians to live a contributing life.

List of recommendations

Recommendation 1. The Productivity Commission consider *Vision 2030: Blueprint for Mental Health and Suicide Prevention* and how it may be relevant to the Final Report.

Recommendation 2. The Productivity Commission's Final Report include additional content incorporating the full range of principles comprising recovery to better address the ongoing needs of those experiencing poor mental health.

Recommendation 3. The Productivity Commission's Final Report make a recommendation to prioritise research on recovery to consolidate the evidence-base for recovery orientated practice, based on, and with, critical contribution from those with a lived experience.

Recommendation 4. The Productivity Commission's final report should include a more detailed and stronger focus on building long-term system improvements that are based on wellness, recovery and self-management of mental health for individuals, families and communities.

Recommendation 5. The Productivity Commission's Final Report make a recommendation to expand the scope of mental health service mapping frameworks and service planning frameworks to include recovery orientated services.

Recommendation 6. In addition to considering the necessity of a community-based care policy and funding framework within the mental health system (as referenced in Vision 2030), the Productivity Commission's Final Report include a definition of community services and recommendations that strengthen the dual and aligned roles of community and community services.

Recommendation 7. To enable long-term shift in mental health outcomes in Australia, the Productivity Commission's Final Report recommend that the underlying factors of mental illness are routinely addressed in prevention, treatment and support policy and programs across whole-of-government activities.

Recommendation 8. The Productivity Commission's Final Report address the specific needs of populations such as children, older people, and diverse populations in any model of care presented in the final report.

Recommendation 9. The Productivity Commission's Final Report include a recommendation on the Australian Government's role in a policy commitment to a coordinated national approach to the mental health care of older people.

Recommendation 10. The Productivity Commission's Final Report consider how the mental health and suicide prevention system reform has the capacity and capability to meet and respond to future expected and unexpected demands on the system.

Recommendation 11. The Productivity Commission's Final Report address the options as to how to coordinate a cross-portfolio and whole-of-government approach to mental health and the mechanisms that will enable a such an approach to mental health policy and provide strategic oversight to investment.

Recommendation 12. The Productivity Commission's Final Report include detail on stakeholder engagement during the implementation of reforms.

Recommendation 13. The Productivity Commission's Final Report include a recommendation to ensure continuity of service for people affected by new or changed funding arrangements.

Recommendation 14. The Productivity Commission's Final Report include a recommendation that work to develop the MBS evidence-base include specific outcomes that are integrated into measurement efforts across the system; using a co-design process involving all relevant stakeholders.

Recommendation 15. The Productivity Commission's Final Report include a recommendation for the Australian Government to produce an implementation plan in support of the National Mental Health Workforce Strategy.

Recommendation 16. The Productivity Commission's Final Report include additional content in the final report on the value and contributions of the peer workforce.

Recommendation 17. The Productivity Commission's Final Report include a recommendation for research to be conducted as a priority to consolidate the evidence-base for the peer workforce.

Recommendation 18. The Productivity Commission's Final Report recommendations about single care plans ensure that mental health care plans are implemented based on consultation and codesign with the consumer and all relevant stakeholders for that consumer; these plans should also cover physical health checks and support the appropriate and informed sharing of a consumer's physical health information.

Recommendation 19. The Productivity Commission's Final Report explicitly address the need to integrate housing and homelessness policies and mental health policies.

Recommendation 20. The Productivity Commission's Final Report include a recommendation to build the evidence base for early intervention and prevention initiatives such as justice reinvestment and health justice partnerships.

Recommendation 21. The Productivity Commission's Final Report include a recommendation for the Australian Government to encourage Primary Health Networks to extend the contract length for existing psychosocial support services who can demonstrate efficacy and suitability in providing services in their region, and where feasible, enter into longer-term contracts when commissioning services with new providers.

Recommendation 22. The Productivity Commission's Final Report include a recommendation that the Australian Government and state and territory governments ensure that in the long-term, people who apply, or who are found ineligible, for the NDIS have access to adequate psychosocial support services.

Recommendation 23. The Productivity Commission's Final Report include a recommendation for a national evaluation that explores barriers to applying for the NDIS, as well as the availability and access to psychosocial support for people who do not apply or who are ineligible for the NDIS.

Recommendation 24. The Productivity Commission's Final Report recommend the National Children's Mental Health and Wellbeing Strategy be used to guide future funding, program and policy decisions.

Recommendation 25. The Productivity Commission's Final Report strengthen the recommendation regarding universal perinatal screening and perinatal national minimum dataset to ensure it includes the need for explicit referral pathways and identified services, and screening is conducted at optimal timing.

Recommendation 26. The Productivity Commission's Final Report strengthen the recommendations around early childhood checks and early childhood educators to ensure that they are underpinned by specialised child mental health services supporting community and primary health care.

Recommendation 27. The Productivity Commission's Final Report recommends the Australian Government reviews government service policies and processes to meet the needs and improve the experience of vulnerable consumers.

Recommendation 28. The Productivity Commission's Final Report recommends the outcomes of reviews, evaluations or monitoring relating to the improvements of standards and practices in the insurance sector be made public.

Recommendation 29. The Productivity Commission's Final Report strengthen the recommendation regarding availability of aftercare services to include people experiencing suicidal ideation in the absence of a suicide attempt, incorporating an evidence-based approach and best practice.

Recommendation 30. The Productivity Commission's Final Report recommend the National Workplace Initiative be used to guide and inform future funding, program and policy decisions.

Recommendation 31. The Productivity Commission's Final Report strengthen the recommendation to enhance consumer and carer involvement in all aspects of system planning, design, monitoring and evaluation, by providing detail on how this can be achieved.

Recommendation 32. The Productivity Commission's Final Report includes recommendations that ensures any new funding models can support a community needs approach and are able to fund services across the whole stepped care model.

Recommendation 33. The Productivity Commission's Final Report includes advice on how economic modelling can be used to inform the ongoing monitoring, evaluation and reporting of the mental health and suicide prevention sector.

Recommendation 34. The NMHC supports the Productivity Commission's recommendations for the NMHC to independently monitor, evaluate and report on the mental health and suicide prevention system and notes the need to identify the mechanisms to support this responsibility.

Recommendation 35. The Productivity Commission's Final Report needs to make short-term recommendations that support the NMHC to immediately conduct the independent monitoring, evaluation and reporting role.

Recommendation 36. The Productivity Commission's Final Report should refer to the NMHC role as monitoring, evaluation and reporting.

Recommendation 37. The Productivity Commission's Final Report includes a stronger definition of an outcome framework and incorporates the Contributing Life Framework and the relationship of this framework to the monitoring, evaluation and reporting actions for the NMHC.

Recommendation 38. The Productivity Commission's Final Report notes that the evaluation framework will be co-designed with all relevant stakeholders including consumers and carers, and that reporting of agreed outcomes are to be made public.

Recommendation 39. The Productivity Commission's Final Report considers making recommendations to ensure national data quality and consistency is improved as a priority of any national strategy or agreement.

Recommendation 40. The Productivity Commission's Final Report make the evaluation of the suicide prevention trial sites a priority so the evaluation findings can be applied to funding decisions in a timely manner.

Recommendation 41. The Productivity Commission's Final Report make a recommendation for all stakeholders involved in the suicide prevention trial sites to support the development and implementation of an evaluation framework for a meta-analysis across trial site findings and for translation into recommendations that can be applied across all Australian regions and jurisdictions.

Recommendation 42. The Productivity Commission's Final Report makes the NMHC responsible for the monitoring, evaluation and reporting of the National Mental Health Strategy.

Recommendation 43. The Productivity Commission's Final Report recommends the National Mental Health Strategy and National Mental Health and Suicide Prevention Agreement have a crossportfolio and multijurisdictional approach and are adopted by all governments.

References

- 1. National Mental Health Commission. Submission to the Productivity Commission inquiry into the social and economic benefits of improving mental health. 2019.
- 2. National Mental Health Commission. Monitoring mental health and suicide prevention reform: National Report 2019. Canberra: NMHC; 2019. Available from: http://mentalhealthcommission.gov.au/our-reports/our-national-report-cards.aspx.
- 3. Mental Health Australia. Charter 2020: Time to fix mental health. MHA; 2019.
- 4. National Mental Health Commission. Connections: Vision 2030. Sydney: NMHC; Available from: https://www.mentalhealthcommission.gov.au/Mental-health-Reform/Connections
- 5. Australian Government Department of Health. Implementation guidelines for Non-government Community Services. 2010.
- 6. Mental Health Foundation. Recovery. 2018. Available from: https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/a-to-z/r/recovery.
- 7. National Mental Health Commission. Submission to the Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety. NMHC; 2019.
- 8. Council of Australian Governments. National Strategy for Disaster Resilience: Building the resilience of our nation to disasters. Attorney-General's Department. 2011.
- 9. Australia Talks National Survey reveals what Australians are most worried about. ABC news.8/10/2019: 2019 17/12/2019. Available from: https://www.abc.net.au/news/2019-10-08/annabel-crabb-australia-talks-what-australians-worry-about/11579644.
- 10. Mission Australia. Youth Survey Report 2019. Sydney, NSW; 2019. Available from: https://www.missionaustralia.com.au/publications/youth-survey.
- 11. The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. Postion statement Climate change and human health. June 2019,.
- 12. Climate and Health Alliance. Framework for a National Strategy on Climate, Health and Wellbeing for Australia. June 2017.
- 13. Callander E, Corscadden, L. & Levesque, J-F. Out-of-pocket healthcare expenditure and chronic disease do Australians forgo care because of the cost? . Australian Journal of Primary Health. 2017(23):15-22.
- 14. Roberts R. The physical health of people living with mental illness: A narrative literature review. Charles Sturt University; 2019.
- 15. The mental health and physical health platform. In: Mental health and physical health charter. London, 2013.
- 16. Medicare Benefits Review Taskforce. Report from the Mental Health Reference Group. In: Australian Government Department of Health. 2018.
- 17. Private Mental Health Consumer Carer Network (Australia). Towards Professionalisation: Final Report. Available from: https://www.mentalhealthcommission.gov.au/getmedia/2cae09c7-9d6d-43c8-bade-382c0261b38f/Towards-Professionalisation-final-report.
- 18. National Mental Health Commission. Contributing lives, thriving communities: Report of the national review of mental health programmes and services. Sydney: NMHC; 2014. Available from: www.mentalhealthcommission.gov.au/our-reports/our-national-report-cards/2014-contributing-lives-review.aspx.
- 19. Australian Bureau of Statistics. National health survey: First results, 2014-15. Cat. No. 4364.0.55.001. Canberra: ABS; 2015.
- 20. Diminic, S. Hielscher, E. Lee, Y.Y. Harris, M. Schess, J. Kealton, J. Whiteford, H. The economic value of informal mental health caring in Australia: summary report. Brisbane: The University of Queensland; 2017. Available from: https://www.mindaustralia.org.au/sites/default/files/publications/The_economic_value_of_i nformal_mental_health_caring_in_Australia_summary_report.pdf.

- 21. Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute. Housing, homelessness and mental health: towards system change. 2018. Available from: https://www.ahuri.edu.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0023/29381/Housing-homelessness-and-mental-health-towards-systems-change.pdf.
- 22. The Senate Select Committee on Mental Health. A national approach to mental health from crisis to community. Final report. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia; 2006.
- 23. Mental Health Commission of New South Wales. Submission to Senate Inquiry on mental health conditions experienced by first responders, emergency service workers and volunteers. 2018.
- 24. Kessler RC, Amminger GP, Aguilar-Gaxiola S, Alonso J, Lee S, Ustun TB. Age of onset of mental disorders: a review of recent literature. Current Opinion in Psychiatry. 2007;20:359-64.
- 25. Strong Foundations collaboration. The first thousand days: A case for investment. 2019. Available from: https://www.rch.org.au/uploadedFiles/Main/Content/ccchdev/The-First-Thousand-Days-A-Case-for-Investment.pdf.
- 26. AIHW. Perinatal national minimum data set: National Health Data Dictionary, Version 12. 2003.
- 27. National Mental Health Commission. The economic case for investing in mental health prevention: Summary. Sydney: NMHC; 2019. Available from: http://mentalhealthcommission.gov.au/our-work/update-economics-of-mental-health-in-australia.aspx.
- 28. Royal Commission into Victoria's Mental Health System. Interim Report. 2019. Available from: https://rcvmhs.vic.gov.au/download_file/view_inline/2175.
- 29. National Mental Health Commission. Monitoring mental health and suicide prevention reform, Fifth National Mental health and Suicide Prevention Plan, 2019: The consumer and carer perspective. 2019. Available from: https://www.mentalhealthcommission.gov.au/getmedia/526cc54c-f80a-4715-bd6e-5804bb0666d3/2019-Consumer-and-Carer-Report.pdf.
- 30. Nous Group. Mental Health and Suicide Prevention Monitoring and Reporting Framework: Complete Final report to the National Mental Health Commission. NMHC; 2018. Available from: https://www.mentalhealthcommission.gov.au/media/237674/Nous%20MRF%20Complete%2 0Report%20with%20Appendices%20-%20FINAL.pdf.
- 31. Mind Australia, Helping Minds, Private Mental Health Consumer Carer Network (Australia), Mental Health Carers Arafmi Australia and Mental Health Australia. A practical guide for working with carers of people with a mental illness. 2016.